IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1051

DUSTY RAY SPENCER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

HARRY P. BRODY FLORIDA BAR NO. 0977860 ASSISTANT CCRC

JEFFREY M. HAZEN FLORIDA BAR NO. 0153060 CCRC-MIDDLE ATTORNEY

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 (813)740-3544

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On February 6, 1992, an Orange County grand jury indicted Mr. Spencer for first-degree murder, aggravated assault, attempted first-degree murder, and aggravated battery. (R. 491). On October 14, 1992, another Orange County grand jury handed down an amended indictment for the same charges (R. 602). The charges were alleged to have arisen out of two separate incidents between Mr. Spencer and his wife, one occurring on January 4, 1992 and the other occurring on January 18, 1992 (R. 602-603).

Mr. Spencer was tried by a jury and found guilty on November 7, 1992 (R. 1081). On December 8, 1992, the jury recommended a sentence of death for the first-degree murder conviction by a vote of 7-5 (R. 1148). The trial court followed the jury recommendation and sentenced Mr. Spencer to death on December 21, 1992 (R. 1230). On September 22, 1994, this Court affirmed the conviction, but vacated Mr. Spencer's death sentence because the trial court erroneously instructed the jury on and considered the aggravating circumstance of "cold, calculated, and premeditated" and erroneously failed to consider the two statutory mitigating circumstances dealing with mental health. <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 645 So. 2d 377 (Fla. 1994). On remand for "reconsideration" in lieu of these errors, the trial court, without impaneling a jury, sentenced Mr. Spencer to death on January 18, 1995 (R2. 149).

This Court affirmed Mr. Spencer's resentencing. <u>Spencer v.</u> <u>State</u>, 691 So. 2d 1062 (Fla. 1996). On October 6, 1997, the United States Supreme Court denied Mr. Spencer's Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Florida Supreme Court. <u>Spencer v.</u> <u>State</u>, 118 S. Ct. 213 (1997).

On September 24, 1999, Mr. Spencer filed his Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentences (PC-R. 622-735). On December 21, 1999, the lower court held a hearing in this matter pursuant to <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993). Subsequent to the <u>Huff</u> hearing, the lower court ordered a limited evidentiary hearing (PC-R. 792-97). The evidentiary hearing was held on March 2-3, 2000. Thereafter, the lower court entered an order denying Mr. Spencer's 3.850 in its entirety (PC-R. 832-89). This appeal follows.

II. <u>STATEMENT OF THE FACTS</u>

A. <u>Guilt-Phase Testimony</u>

At trial, the State called Timothy Johnson who testified that he is 18 years old and was the son of Karen Spencer (T. 4510). He lived at home with his mother and had known Mr. Spencer for three and one-half years (T. 452). Johnson testified that in December 1991 his mother and Mr. Spencer had begun having problems and that Mr. Spencer had moved out (T. 453). Mr. Spencer moved back in just before Christmas and then back out right after Christmas, staying approximately 4-5 days (<u>Id</u>.). On

the morning of January 4, 1992, Johnson was awakened by his mother's screams and ran to her bedroom where Mr. Spencer was hitting her with his hands (T. 462-63). Mr. Spencer then grabbed an iron from a shelf in Mrs. Spencer's room and hit Johnson with it several times (T. 463). Mr. Spencer followed Johnson into his room where Johnson was again hit with the iron (T. 465). At this time, Mrs. Spencer left the house (T. 466). Johnson testified that he never saw Mr. Spencer hit Mrs. Spencer with the iron (T. 464).

Johnson testified that on the night of January 17, 1992, he got home at around 10 p.m. and went to bed around 11 p.m. (T. 476-77). Krista Mays, his brother's girlfriend, was there that night, but he doesn't know what time she left (T. 477). The next morning, Johnson woke up to the sound of yelling and ran out the front door with a .22 rifle (T. 478). Johnson ran around to the side of the house where he looked into the backyard (T. 479). He testified that he saw Mr. Spencer hitting Mrs. Spencer with a brick (<u>Id</u>.). Mr. and Mrs. Spencer were about ten feet from the opened sliding glass door at the back of the house (T. 480). Johnson ran up to Mr. Spencer and hit him in the head with the rifle (T. 481). Mr. Spencer then hit Mrs. Spencer's head against the side of the house, after which she said, "stop" (T. 481, 483). Johnson did not see any cuts on Mrs. Spencer's face (T. 484). After hitting Mrs. Spencer's head against the wall, Mr.

Spencer pulled out a knife (<u>Id</u>.). Johnson testified that the knife looked like a steak knife and that Mr. Spencer did not normally carry a pocketknife (T. 491). Mr. Spencer approached Johnson with the knife when Johnson tried to lift Mrs. Spencer (T. 493-96). When Mr. Spencer approached Johnson, he put Mrs. Spencer down and ran to a neighbor's house (T. 498). Johnson testified that Mr. Spencer was wearing clear, plastic gloves (T. 501). Johnson waited at the neighbor's house until the police arrived (T. 505).

On cross-examination, Johnson testified that he did not hear any conversation between the Spencers on the morning of January 4^{th} or 18^{th} , 1992 (T. 538, 541). Mr. Spencer did not hit Mrs. Spencer with the iron on January 4^{th} nor did he chase after her when she left the house (T. 541, 551).

On redirect, Johnson testified that he did not see a knife when he first came upon the altercation in the backyard on January 18th (T. 542). When Mr. Spencer was hit with the gun, he did not immediately come at Johnson (T. 543). Johnson testified that he never saw Mr. Spencer wearing the gloves until that morning (T. 549).

Johnson further testified on cross-examination that Mr. Spencer was home for Christmas and exchanged gifts with Johnson and Mrs. Spencer (T. 552). Mrs. Spencer's parents were there for a Christmas dinner (T. 553).

Deputy Ronald Weyland of the Orange County Sheriff's Office testified that he responded to the Spencer home on the morning of January 4th (T. 618). After inspecting the Spencer home, Weyland proceeded to a neighbor's home where he took statements from Tim Johnson and Karen Spencer (T. 621). Weyland later went to the hospital to take photos of Johnson and Mrs. Spencer (T. 622). Auxillary patrolman Bill Anthony was with Weyland on January 4th (T. 624). Weyland retrieved the iron from the scene and processed it for prints (T. 624-25).

The State next called Dr. Clarence Bowman, an emergency room physician at Princeton Hospital in Orlando who testified that he treated Tim Johnson and Karen Spencer on January 4th (T. 640-41). Bowman testified that Karen Spencer told him she was beaten with an iron (T. 648). Johnson told Bowman that he was hit with an iron (T. 654). Bowman stated that Karen Spencer was treated for facial lacerations (T. 649).

Deputy Richard Hosier of the Orange County Sheriff's Office testified that he responded to the Spencer home on January 18th (T. 659). Hosier noticed bricks in the vicinity of the body with blood spatters on them (T. 663). The kitchen area showed signs of a struggle (T. 665).

Orange County Deputy Sandra Blume testified that she responded to the Spencer home on January 18th and observed blood-stained bricks near Mrs. Spencer's body (T. 693).

On cross-examination, Blume testified that there were bricks arranged in a landscape border near the body and the bloodstained bricks were similar to these (T. 694).

Next, the State called Dr. William Anderson, the Chief Medical Examiner of Orange County (T. 702). Dr. Anderson testified that he went to the scene of the homicide on January 18th where he viewed the scene and the body of Karen Spencer (T. 707). Dr. Anderson described stabbing wounds to Mrs. Spencer's facial area and a blunt force injury to her forehead (T. 726-27). Dr. Anderson also testified as to blunt force injury to the back of the head and stab wounds to the chest (T. 731-36). Karen Spencer's right arm revealed the existence of defensive wounds according to Dr. Anderson (T. 738). Facial injuries, cardiopulmonary injuries, and brain injuries all contributed to cause of death, with the cardiopulmonary injuries being the most serious (T. 742).

On cross-examination, Dr. Bowman testified that he could not determine the time sequence of the injuries (T. 749). He saw no evidence of brick material in his examination of Mrs. Spencer's face and scalp (T. 750).

The State next called Debra Chiota, a crime scene technician for the Orange County Sheriff's Office (T. 785). Chiota arrived at approximately 9:00 a.m. on January 18th and helped process the scene (T. 788). Chiota testified that she observed the bricks

near the body and that they appeared to be out of their usual order (T. 803). Chiota gathered the parts of the broken gun from the scene and took them into evidence (T. 819). The parts of the gun were found within 12 feet of the body (T. 826).

Krista Mays testified that she knew members of the Spencer family, including Mr. and Mrs. Spencer (T. 850). She is the boyfriend of Mrs. Spencer's son, Rodney Johnson, and was at the Spencer home on the night of January 17th (T. 851). After talking to Mrs. Spencer, Mays left around 2:00 a.m., at which time Tim Johnson was already asleep (T. 871).

Next, Chester Blekfeld testified that he is a crime scene technician with the Orange County Sheriff's Office and that he responded to the Spencer home on January 18th with Deputy Chiota (T. 894-95). Blekfeld testified that he collected a part of the shattered gun that had blood on it (T. 898).

Benjamin Abrams testified that he worked for the Spencers' painting business for approximately one and one-half years prior to Mrs. Spencer's death and that his routine was to come to the Spencer home in the morning to pick up a work van (T. 903). Abrams continued to work for Mrs. Spencer after Mr. Spencer had moved out of the house (<u>Id</u>.). Abrams was supposed to be running the business after the Spencers separated (T. 906). Abrams testified that Mr. Spencer turned over a briefcase to him after the January 4th incident (T. 907). Abrams further testified that

he and Mr. Spencer attended a party at a company work shed on January 1, 1992 (T. 913). Abrams testified that Mr. Spencer jokingly said he would like to throw Mrs. Spencer off of his boat (T. 915). Abrams arrived at the Spencer home just before the police on January 18th, expecting to go to work (T. 919).

On cross-examination, Abrams testified that Mrs. Spencer was the estimator for the painting business and that Mr. Spencer was responsible for purchasing and labor (T. 921). When Mr. Spencer handed over the briefcase to Abrams, he did not mention harming Mrs. Spencer (T. 924). When Mr. Spencer made the "boat statement", he had been drinking a lot (<u>Id</u>.). Mr. Spencer was "totally kidding" when he made the statement and Abrams felt no need to call the police (T. 926).

Charles Badger testified that he is a crime lab analyst for the Florida Department of Law Enforcement and that he found a stain of human blood on a portion of the gun he received from the crime scene (T. 980, 993).

B. Penalty-Phase Testimony

At penalty phase, the state called the medical examiner, Dr. Anderson (R. 99). Anderson testified that many of Mrs. Spencer's wounds were inflicted while she was alive (R. 99). Defensive wounds were present (R. 100). Dr. Anderson testified that injuries to Mrs. Spencer's face would not have been caused by a brick (R. 120).

On cross-examination, Anderson testified that he could not state the time sequence of the wounds (R. 108). Dr. Anderson stated that he saw no blunt force injuries to Mrs. Spencer's facial area and that the facial bleeding was not caused by a brick (R. 110). The defensive wounds were superficial (R. 112). Dr. Anderson testified that Mrs. Spencer could have slipped in and out of consciousness (R. 118).

Deputy Weyland testified that Mrs. Spencer told him that Mr. Spencer had made threatening statements to her during the January 4th iron incident (R. 137). On cross-examination, Weyland testified that Tim Johnson did not hear the threatening statements (R. 138).

The first defense witness at penalty phase was Dr. Kathleen Burch, a clinical psychologist (R. 151). Dr. Burch examined Mr. Spencer over two days in September, 1992 (R. 154). Dr. Burch performed a neuropsychological and psychological battery (R. 155). Additionally, Dr. Burch received a life history and history of the offense (R. 156). Dr. Burch, despite finding the existence of a long history of drug and alcohol abuse, found no significant brain damage (R. 159). Dr. Burch testified that Mr. Spencer was not malingering (R. 162). Dr. Burch further testified that personality testing indicates that Mr. Spencer has a personality disorder characterized by built up anger which may explode and vulnerability under stress (R. 163). Dr. Burch

testified that Mr. Spencer suffered emotional and sexual abuse as a child and that he was abusing alcohol by age 14 (R. 172-74). Mr. Spencer's history revealed no significant period of sobriety since adolescence (R. 175). Mr. Spencer suffers from a paranoid personality disorder that produces brief psychotic episodes (R. 177). Dr. Burch testified to the presence of both statutory mental health mitigators (R. 178). Mr. Spencer would not be a threat in a prison environment (<u>Id</u>.). Finally, Dr. Burch testified that Mr. Spencer told her that he went to the Spencer home on January 18th to get the title to his car (R. 179).

On cross-examination, Dr. Burch testified that previous threats made by Mr. Spencer to Mrs. Spencer would not change her opinion as to statutory mitigation (R. 184). Dr. Burch testified that the threats may have been the result of fantasy (R. 185). Mr. Spencer's MMPI testing indicated an impulsive, nonreflective personality (R. 195). The personality disorder likely set in during early adulthood and has worsened (R. 196). Dr. Burch testified that Mr. Spencer's ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was impaired because of his impaired reality testing and combined substance abuse (R. 204). Dr. Burch stated that Mr. Spencer did not remember the actual murder (R. 209). Mr. Spencer's history of alcohol and drug abuse effected, to a great extent, his behavior at the time of the crime (R. 213). At the time of the crime, Mr. Spencer had been drinking

constantly and was impaired as a result of his constant alcohol consumption (R. 213, 215).

Patricia Spencer testified that she is the mother of Mr. Spencer (R. 276). Mr. Spencer grew up in Hopewell Township, Pennsylvania and joined the Marines during his senior year of high school (R. 277). Mr. Spencer's hobbies were hunting and fishing (R. 278).

Cheryl Dobbins next testified that she is Mr. Spencer's sister and that she was sexually molested by her father, Raymond Spencer (R. 282). The sexual abuse occurred numerous times between age 8 and 14 (Id.). She testified that Mr. Spencer had written her a letter stating that he had also been sexually molested by their father (R. 283).

On cross-examination, Dobbins testified that Mr. Spencer and his father did not have a close, loving relationship (R. 285). The letter that she received from Mr. Spencer was written in the context of asking her to forgive her father for what he had done (Id.).

Raymond Spencer, Mr. Spencer's father, testified that he sexually molested Mr. Spencer when he was approximately 13 or 14 years old (R. 288). He also sexually molested his daughter (Id.).

John Marancek testified that he is a lifelong friend of Mr. Spencer (R. 293). Marancek testified that Mr. Spencer began

constant drinking and drug use by age 13 (Id.).

Dennis Worrell also testified that he was a childhood friend of Mr. Spencer's and a witness to Mr. Spencer's early drinking and drug use (R. 299).

Ted Kafalas also grew up with Mr. Spencer and remembers Mr. Spencer's early abuse of alcohol and drugs (R. 301-03). Kafalas and Mr. Spencer joined the Marines together (R. 304). Kafalas testified that he and Mr. Spencer moved to Florida together in 1973 (<u>Id</u>.). At that time the two drank excessively (R. 304-05). During this period they were also using drugs, including acid, thai stick, cocaine and marijuana (R. 306).

Next, Hank Petrilli testified that he is a police officer in Hopewell Township (R. 309). Petrilli testified that when Mr. Spencer was an adolescent, he picked him up several times when he was intoxicated (R. 311).

The defense next called Paul Faber who was stationed with Mr. Spencer while in the Marines (R. 313). They were stationed in Guam and were both part of a search and rescue team (R. 313-14). Faber testified that Mr. Spencer was mature and responsible and often was in charge of the team (R. 315). Faber also testified that Mr. Spencer used drugs, including purple haze, mescaline, microdot and acid R. 316).

Ben Abrams next testified for the defense that Mr. Spencer was his employer (R. 318). Mr. Spencer ran a successful

business, treating his employees "excellent" (R. 319). Mr. Spencer cared about the business a great deal (\underline{Id} .).

Joseph Cleaves testified that he was a foreman for Mr. Spencer's painting business (R. 324). Cleaves testified that Mr. Spencer was the best person he ever worked for and would often loan money to Cleaves if he needed it (<u>Id</u>.).

Mike Bryant testified that he has known Mr. Spencer approximately 10 years (R. 327). Bryant testified that he and Mr. Spencer helped to save the life of a mutual friend named Timmy Meyers who had stopped breathing after an accident involving a dislodged automotive fan (R. 327-28). Bryant testified that Mr. Spencer performed C.P.R. on Meyers and that Bryant and Mr. Spencer drove Meyers to a location where an emergency helicopter could land (R. 328-29).

Leland Meyers testified that Mr. Spencer helped to save the life of his son, Timmy (R. 330). The doctors told him his son would have died without Mr. Spencer's help (R. 331).

Finally, Dr. Jonathon Lipman testified that he has a PhD. in neuropharmacology (R. 335). Dr. Lipman examined Mr. Spencer over three days in September 1992 and conducted a detailed clinical review (R. 338). Dr. Lipman took a drug use history from Mr. Spencer and gave a clinical analysis questionnaire (R. 339). Dr. Lipman indicated that the results from this questionnaire were consistent with Dr. Burch's MMPI testing (R. 343). Dr. Lipman

testified that Mr. Spencer is somewhat withdrawn, submissive, shy and timid (R. 340). Dr. Lipman conducted an addiction severity analysis of Mr. Spencer which indicated significant psychiatric and alcohol addiction problems (R. 341-42). Dr. Lipman testified that Mr. Spencer has little resistance to stress (R. 344). Mr. Spencer began abusing alcohol and drugs at an early age to become intoxicated and thereby avoid resolving conflicts about his sexual maturity (R. 346). Mr. Spencer has an extensive history of drug use from the time of adolescence (R. 347-48). Dr. Lipman testified that based on his interviews, Mr. Spencer was drinking up to a case of beer and a liter of hard liquor every day in the two weeks preceding Mrs. Spencer's death (R. 350). Although Mr. Spencer's blood alcohol level at the time of the crime was zero, he was still in a state of intoxication produced by constant consumption of alcohol (R. 351). Dr. Lipman stated that he felt both statutory mental health mitigators applied to Mr. Spencer (R. 355-56).

On cross-examination, Dr. Lipman testified that Mr. Spencer was in a constant state of intoxication at the time of Mrs. Spencer's death (R. 359). Dr. Lipman testified that he corroborated Mr. Spencer's alcohol consumption by speaking with the Zink family who were friends of Mr. Spencer (R. 367). Lipman further testified that Mr. Spencer's alcohol use was probably worse than Mr. Spencer indicated (<u>Id</u>.). Mr. Spencer told Dr.

Lipman that he went to the house on January 18th to get his car title (R. 368). Mr. Spencer told Dr. Lipman that he entered the back door of the house and that Mrs. Spencer began screaming at him (R. 370). Mr. Spencer then grabbed Mrs. Spencer to cover her mouth and the two fell out the door and onto the back porch (<u>Id</u>.). Mrs. Spencer then hit Mr. Spencer with a brick and he grabbed the brick and hit her with it (R. 370-71). Mr. Spencer was then hit in the head with a rifle and the next thing Mr. Spencer remembers is coming out of a fog and having a knife in his hands (R. 371). Dr. Lipman testified that the fog or blackout is called a dissociative state (R. 378). Nothing in Dr. Lipman's testing indicated that Mr. Spencer was being deceptive (R. 380).

C. <u>Evidentiary Hearing Testimony</u>

At the evidentiary hearing, Don Smallwood testified that he was Mr. Spencer's trial attorney along with attorney Nick Kelly (PC-R. 96). They had an investigator on the case (PC-R. 97). This was their first murder case (PC-R. 98). Smallwood believed that there were nine months between his appointment and trial and that this was a sufficient amount of time for preparation (PC-R. 99). Smallwood was to be primarily responsible for handling guilt phase and Kelly penalty phase, but they worked on both phases together (PC-R. 100). The spilt in responsibility was primarily for purposes of handling witnesses and argument (PC-R.

102).

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