IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DUSTY RAY SPENCER,

Appellant,

vs. CASE NO. SC00-1051

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE

Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0802743
Westwood center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739
(813) 356-1292 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

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

ARGUMENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT ON PROCEDURAL BAR

Matters which either were raised or could have been raised on appeal or previous post-conviction proceedings procedurally barred on collateral review. It is well settled that a Rule 3.850 motion is not a substitute for, nor does it constitute a second direct appeal. "[A] Rule 3.850 motion based upon grounds which either were or could have been raised as issues on appeal may be summarily denied." McCrae v. State, 437 So. 2d 1388, 1390 (Fla. 1983) (string citations omitted). See generally Parker v. State, 2d 744 1998), cert. denied, 526 U.S. 718 So. (Fla. 1101 (1999) (claims procedurally barred on second 3.850 motion for failure to object at trial, for having raised issue on direct appeal, or for having raised issues in prior motions or petitions); Maharaj v. State, 684 So. 2d 726 (Fla. 1996) (Post-conviction relief petitioner's claims which were either raised or could have been raised on direct appeal were properly denied without an evidentiary hearing); Engle v. Dugger, 576 So. 2d 696, 702 (Fla. 1991)(claim that the trial court failed to provide a factual basis to support imposition of death sentence was "procedurally barred because it should have been raised on the appeal from resentencing."). Accord Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995); Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1990); Clark v. State, 690 So. 2d 1280 (Fla. 1997).

Any attempt by a defendant to avoid the application of a procedural bar by simply recasting a previously raised claim under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel is not generally successful. See Sireci v. State, 469 So. 2d 119, 120 (Fla. 1985) ("[c]laims previously raised on direct appeal will not be heard on a motion for post-conviction relief simply because those claims are raised under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel.") "Procedural bars repeatedly have been upheld as valid where properly applied to ensure the finality of cases in which issues were or could have been raised." Atkins v. State, 663 So. 2d 624, 627 (Fla. 1995).

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING DENYING POST-CONVICTION RELIEF ON ALLEGATIONS OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT IS SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD? (STATED BY APPELLEE).

A. Appellant's Claims Of Prosecutorial Conduct Are Procedurally

Barred From Review As Such Claims Either Were, Or, Could Have Been

Raised At Trial And On Direct Appeal

Appellant first contends that several instances of prosecutorial misconduct occurred during the course of the trial. Appellant's Brief at 32. The trial court recognized below that these allegations of prosecutorial misconduct should have been raised, if at all, at trial and on direct appeal. Consequently, the trial court held that such claims were barred from review, stating:

"Rule 3.850 does not authorize relief based upon grounds which could have been or should have been raised at trial and, if properly preserved, on direct appeal." Bates v. Dugger, 604 So.2d 457, 458 (Fla. 1992), quoting Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850; see Mikenas v. State, 460 So.2d 359 (Fla. 1984). The Court finds that these claims could have been, and to a certain extent were, raised on direct appeal and, therefore, they are all procedurally barred.

(PCR-6, 838-39). Despite finding these claims procedurally barred, exercising an abundance of caution, the trial court considered the claims of prosecutorial misconduct on the merits.

B. <u>Prosecutorial Misconduct Did Not Deprive Appellant Of His</u> Right To A Fair Trial

(I) The Display Of Gloves During Closing Argument

The trial court below denied this claim, noting that although the prosecutor did put on a pair of gloves during closing argument, this conduct was not improper. The trial court stated:

The prosecutor did put on a pair of latex gloves like those allegedly worn by Mr. Spencer during the murder and show them to the jury. (T 1035; 1061; EH T 143-44). The gloves had been introduced into evidence. (T968). At the evidentiary hearing, the prosecutor testified that she felt it was necessary to show the jury the gloves during closing because in her mind they were strong evidence of premeditation. (EH T 143-45). The Court finds this claim is procedurally barred. Further, the Court finds that even if this claim was considered on its merits, the alleged misconduct does not meet the standard set forth in Spencer v. State, 645 So.2d at 383.

(PCR-6, 844). The gloves were in evidence and they constituted evidence of premeditation in this case, that is, appellant prepared for his fatal encounter by putting on a pair of gloves with the rather obvious intent of preventing his fingerprints from

being found. A display of the gloves that were admitted into evidence was entirely proper.

Appellant's claim that the facts of the instant case are "analogous" to those of <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 563 So. 2d 791 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) cannot withstand even a cursory review of the two cases. In <u>Jenkins</u> the court reversed the defendant's conviction because the prosecutor repeatedly accused the defense attorney of further "victimizing the victim and of seeking an acquittal at all costs." In addition, the prosecutor engaged in improper "golden rule" arguments, "the most egregious of which occurred when he pointed the shotgun involved in the incident at one juror while arguing to the others that this was the same circumstance that confronted the victim." Jenkins, 563 So. 2d at 791.

The facts addressed by the court in <u>Jenkins</u> are in no way comparable to those presented in the instant case. The prosecutor did not make a threatening gesture when she put the gloves on, nor did she ask the jury to place themselves in the position of the victim as she was wearing the gloves. Simply putting the gloves on while discussing appellant's premeditation does not implicate a violation of the golden rule. The prosecutor was not placing the jury in the position of the victim. <u>See Shaara v. State</u>, 581 So. 2d 1339, 1341 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (A Golden Rule argument is made when a prosecutor asks "the jurors to place themselves in the victim's position, [or] to think how they would feel if the crime

happened to them.")(string citations omitted). Consequently, any contention that this conduct violated the Golden Rule is without merit.

(II) Emotional Display During Closing Argument

In addition to finding this allegation of prosecutorial misconduct procedurally barred, the trial court found this claim was without merit. The trial court stated:

Mr. Spencer also argues that the prosecutor cried during closing arguments. At the evidentiary hearing, the prosecutor testified that she did not cry during closing argument. (EH T 142; 146-147). Rather, her voice "quavered" for a few seconds and she then turned away from the jury and composed herself before proceeding with her closing argument. (EH T 143; 146-147). The State introduced a videotape which depicts the incident in question. In the videotape, the prosecutor's voice can be heard "quavering," but there is no indication that she was actually crying. The Court has determined that the prosecutor did not cry during her closing argument and, hence, finds that this claim is procedurally barred and without merit.

(PCR-6, 844).

The prosecutor in this case did not cry during closing argument. Thus, appellant failed to prove the specific claim he made in his motion for postconviction relief. And, even if the prosecutor did show a brief display of emotion, under the facts of this case, such a display does not mandate reversal of appellant's conviction. The State's Response below provided an excellent analysis of this issue:

Given the overwhelming character of the evidence that defendant did in fact murder the victim, the mere fact of the prosecutor crying in and of itself would not

be sufficient to merit relief even if the crying did occur. C.f. Hill v. Arkansas, 54 Ark. App 31, 977 S.W. 2nd 234 (1998) (declining to reverse conviction on the basis that prosecutor had cried during closing argument); Illinois v. Cloutier, 178 Ill.2d 141, 87 N.E.2d 930 (Ill) (holding that victims crying out from the grave did not so influence the jury as to warrant reversal); Martinez v. State, 822 S.W. 2d 276 (Tx App 1991); Rodriguez v. State, 588 So.2d 1031 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) (Holding that there was no possibility that the remark caused the verdict where prosecutor in closing called attention to the victim's crying during her testimony); State v. Green, 46 Wash App 92, 730 P.2d 1350 (Wash. 1986) (holding that the prosecutor's weeping did not merit reversal because the trial judge had properly instructed the jury to disregard emotional argument); Cohern v. State, 461 N.E. 2d 1154, 1158 (Ind. App. 1984); Agee v. Wyrick, 414 F.Supp. 435, 439 (1976) (holding that the prosecutor's weeping did not merit reversal because the trial judge had properly instructed the jury to disregard emotional argument); Cohen v. State, 461 N.E. 2d 1154, 1158 (Ind. App. 1984); Agee v. Wyrick, 414 F.Supp. 435, 439 (1976) (holding that prosecutrix in rape case crying did not merit habeas corpus relief because the incident did not render the trial fundamentally unfair). In the instant case the prosecutor closed her argument with a reminder of how the jury was to decide the case: "you should find Dusty Ray Spence[r] guilty on all the charges based upon the evidence proven beyond and the exclusion of every reasonable doubt." (T. 1048) (emphasis added). The trial judge also specifically instructed the jury that they must not decide the case because they were sorry for anyone or angry at anyone. He also instructed the jury that their feelings should not influence their decision in the case. (T. 1084). On this record, the Defendant can not prove that the prosecutor's conduct with regard to crying merits relief.

(PCR-5, 745-46).

In sum, this procedurally barred claim cannot form the basis for post-conviction relief on appeal. Indeed, the prosecutor's extremely brief display of emotion in this murder case was simply not a significant factor worthy of mention in a collateral attack

upon appellant's conviction.

(III) The Iron Comment During Opening Statement

Again, this is a procedurally barred claim as it appears in the record and should have been raised at trial and on direct appeal. Nonetheless, in addition to being procedurally barred, the trial court concluded that appellant's claim lacked any merit. The trial court stated that although Timothy Johnson, the victim's son, did not testify he actually observed his mother being beaten with the iron, his testimony did implicate the iron. The trial court stated: "...Instead, Timothy testified that he saw Mr. Spencer beating Karen Spencer and his testimony implied that Mr. Spencer beat her with an iron because Mr. Spencer first beat her, then picked up the iron, then hit Timothy with it in his room, and then returned to Karen Spencer's room. (T 462-466). Dr. Bowman testified that Karen Spencer stated she was hit with an iron and her wounds were consistent with that explanation. (T 648). iron was introduced into evidence during trial. (T 534)." (PCR-6, 840).

The trial court found that a simple misstatement did not constitute misconduct. The trial court stated:

At the evidentiary hearing, the prosecutor testified that she believed that Timothy would testify at trial that he saw Mr. Spencer hit Karen Spencer with an iron. (EH T 150). The prosecutor indicated that her interpretation of the evidence available prior to trial was that Timothy had actually seen Mr. Spencer hit Karen Spencer with an iron. (EH T 151). The State also introduced a copy of the police report prepared by Deputy Weyland in which

Timothy indicated that Mr. Spencer had beaten both he and Karen Spencer with an iron. (State's Exhibit 7). The Court finds that this claim is procedurally barred. The Court finds that, even if this claim is considered on the merits, the prosecutor's statement does not constitute misconduct and does not meet the standard set forth in Spencer v. State, 645 So.2d at 383.

(PCR-6, 840).

Appellant calls the prosecutor disingenuous for stating under oath that she believed Tim would state he observed his mother being struck by the iron. (Appellant's Brief at 41). However, the State notes that the prosecutor in fact, corrected her misstatement at the time of trial, during her own closing argument. (TR. 1022). The jury was not misled by the prosecutor's opening statement. Appellant's personal attack upon the prosecutor is wholly unwarranted.

The evidence did reveal that Ms. Spencer was struck by the iron through her statement to the treating physician and the fact her injuries were consistent with being struck by the iron. The comment was not at all prejudicial as the trial court instructed the jury that what counsel states during opening statement did not constitute evidence. (TR. 419). More important, the comment was not prejudicial because during closing argument both the prosecutor and defense counsel pointed out that Tim did not testify he observed the appellant strike his mother with the iron. (TR. 1022, 1037).

The trial court's ruling that appellant's claim is both

procedurally barred and without merit is supported by the record.

- (IV) Non-Hearing Allegations of Prosecutorial Misconduct
 - (a) Comment on Krista Mays Observation of the Victim with a Rifle

Appellant next asserts that the trial court erred in failing to order a hearing on additional allegations of prosecutorial misconduct which appear in the trial record. As for the statement in opening that Krista Mays observed Karen Spencer come to the door with a gun, this claim was raised on direct appeal and rejected. <u>Spencer</u>, 645 So. 2d at 383. This Court concluded that the prosecutor's comment about Krista Mays and the rifle simply did not warrant the drastic remedy of a mistrial. This Court noted that "[i]n order for the prosecutor's comments to merit a new trial, the comments must either deprive the defendant of a fair and impartial trial, materially contribute to the conviction, be so harmful or fundamentally tainted as to require a new trial, or be so inflammatory that they might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict than that it would have otherwise." (citations omitted). This Court concluded: "The prosecutor's single comment about the rifle does not meet any of these requirements." Spencer, 645 So. 2d at 383.

As this issue has already been raised and rejected on direct appeal, the trial court properly denied this claim as procedurally barred without a hearing. (PCR-6, 840-41). Moreover, as the trial court sustained any objection to the prosecutor's attempt to elicit

testimony about the victim carrying a rifle, appellant failed to show that any inadmissible testimony was actually heard by the jury. (TR. 851). And, the simple fact that a rifle was kept in the victim's house was clearly relevant and admissible as Timothy retrieved the rifle from his mother's bed and attempted to shoot appellant as he was murdering the victim; unfortunately, the rifle misfired. (TR. 478, 851).

Appellant alleges that the prosecutor made an improper, prejudicial "presentation to the jury of a hearsay statement for which there was no exception." (Appellant's Brief at 41). The prosecutor's statement did not implicate inadmissible hearsay, the observation of Ms. Spencer coming to the door with a gun, was not an out of court statement: It was an observation. While the trial court later sustained an objection to this comment, the observation itself did not constitute hearsay.

(b) Revelation That the Victim Had a Dog

The simple fact that the jury learned that the victim had a dog was not so prejudicial that it deprived appellant of his right to a fair trial. The court below found that this claim was both procedurally barred and without merit. (PCR-6, 842). The prosecutor did not ask if the victim had a dog, but was apparently attempting to show that the crime scene was not tampered with by noting through a witness that the only thing taken out of the house before entry of the crime scene technicians was the victim's dog.

(PCR-6, 842). Appellant's cryptic argument does not indicate how the trial court erred in its analysis below. And, since appellant was not accused of hurting the dog, it cannot be said this revelation was a significant factor in appellant's conviction, particularly since appellant was observed murdering the victim.²

(c) Penalty Phase Allegations

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